#### **FILED**

February 9, 2016 Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington

NO. 72553-0-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

ADRIAN SASSEN VANELSLOO

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR WHATCOM COUNTY

The Honorable Deborra Garrett, Judge

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JARED B. STEED Attorney for Appellant

NIELSEN, BROMAN & KOCH, PLLC 1908 E Madison Street Seattle, WA 98122 (206) 623-2373

### **

#### A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The trial court erred when, at the State's urging, it discharged a qualified juror during trial.
- 2. Insufficient evidence supports each of the five firearm enhancements because the State failed to prove the shotgun was operable.
- 3. The State failed to prove appellant was armed with a firearm for each of the five sentence enhancements imposed.
- 4. The trial court erred in denying appellant's motion to dismiss the firearm enhancements for insufficient evidence.
- 5. The trial court exceeded its statutory authority when it imposed discretionary legal financial obligations (LFOs) without making an individualized inquiry into appellant's current and future ability to pay.
- 6. Defense counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the trial court's imposition of discretionary LFOs.

#### Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error

1. Trial courts may not remove a sitting juror without first conducting an adequate investigation and only after determining that the juror is no longer fit to serve. During appellant's trial, the State sought to remove a juror who had minimal contact with a defense witness two years prior. Despite assurances from the juror that the contact with the witness was neither positive nor negative, and that it would not affect her ability to

be fair and impartial, the State succeeded in getting the juror removed.

Did the trial court err in dismissing the juror where the record fails to support its findings on unfitness?

- 2. The State charged the appellant with firearm enhancements on five counts based on his alleged possession of a shotgun. To prove a firearm enhancement, the State must introduce facts from which the jury may find beyond a reasonable doubt that the item in question falls under the definition of a "firearm," that is, a weapon or device from which a projectile may be fired by an explosive such as gunpowder. This requires proof that the weapon or device is operable. Where the State presented no evidence the shotgun had ever been fired, did the State present sufficient evidence that an operable firearm was used in commission of the crimes?
- 3. A person is armed for firearm enhancement purposes when he is within proximity of an easily and readily available firearm and when a nexus is established between the accused, the weapon, and the crime. Appellant was the alleged driver of a car which contained a shotgun in the rear cargo hold. The shotgun was out of reach of the driver. Did the trial court err in denying appellant's motion to dismiss the firearm enhancements for insufficient evidence where the State failed to prove that appellant was within proximity of the inaccessible shotgun and where there was no nexus between appellant, the weapon, and the crime?

- 4. Did the trial court exceed its statutory authority under RCW 10.01.160(3) when it imposed discretionary LFOs without first considering appellant's current and future ability to pay, making the LFO order erroneous?
- 5. Was appellant's trial counsel ineffective for failing to object to the imposition of discretionary LFOs?

#### B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### 1. Procedural History.

The Whatcom county prosecutor charged appellant Adrian Sassen-Vanelsloo with nine felony counts, including: three counts of first degree unlawful possession of a firearm; three counts of unlawful possession of a controlled substance with intent to deliver; two counts of unlawful possession of a controlled substance; and one count of attempting to elude a pursuing police vehicle. CP 3-5. The State further alleged that Sassen-Vanelsloo was armed with firearm during each of the unlawful

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The State alleged Sassen-Vanelsloo possessed a pistol grip Mossburg shotgun, a Raven Arms .25 caliber automatic pistol, and a Sportsarms .38 caliber revolver. CP 3-5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The State alleged Sassen-Vanelsloo possessed with intent to deliver, alprazolam, clonazepam, and heroin. CP 3-5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The State alleged Sassen-Vanelsloo possessed methamphetamine and morphine. CP 3-5.

possession of a controlled substance and unlawful possession of a controlled substance with intent to distribute charges. CP 3-5.

The charges at issue were originally filed under Whatcom County Superior Court cause No. 12-1-01051-2. Those charges were dismissed without prejudice on March 4, 2014 when the State was unable to secure the presence of a critical witness. Supp. CP \_\_\_\_ (sub no. 106, Order of Dismissal and Order Releasing Defendant from Custody on this Matter Only, dated 3/4/14); 12RP<sup>4</sup> 46-47. On May 22, 2014, the charges were refiled under Whatcom County Superior Court cause No. 14-1-00602-3, which is the basis of this appeal. CP 3-5.

A jury found Sassen-Vanelsloo guilty as charged. CP 66-67; 17RP 1051-52, 1055-59. The jury also returned special verdict forms finding that Sassen-Vanelsloo was armed with a shotgun during each of the unlawful possession of a controlled substance and unlawful possession of a controlled substance with intent to distribute charges. CP 68, 70-73. The jury further found that during the attempting to elude, one or more

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> This brief refers to the verbatim report of proceedings as follows: 1RP – September 5, 2013; 2RP – September 9, 2013; 3RP – September 30, 2013; October 1, 2013; 5RP – October 3, 2013; 6RP – October 10, 2013; 7RP – October 24, 2013; 8RP – October 30, 2013; 9RP – November 13, 2013 & May 29, 2014; 10RP – January 30, 2014; 11RP – February 19, 2014; 12RP – March 3, 2014; 13RP – June 5, 2014; 14RP – June 17, 2014; 15RP – June 19, 2014; 16RP – July 21, 2014; 17RP – July 22, 23, 24, 28, 29, 30, and 31, 2014 & August 14, 2014 & September 17 and 30, 2014; 18RP – August 18, 2014.

persons were threatened with physical injury or harm. CP 69; 17RP 1052-59.

The trial court sentenced Sassen-Vanelsloo to a total concurrent standard range prison sentence of 120 months for each of the nine convictions. CP 100-11, 125; Supp. CP \_\_\_\_ (sub no. 123, Order to Modify Judgment and Sentence, dated 2/23/15). The trial court also imposed a total consecutive 144 months imprisonment for each of the five unlawful possession convictions where Sassen-Vanelsloo was alleged to be armed with a shotgun. CP 100-111, 125; 17RP 1133.

The court also imposed \$7,050 in LFOs. CP 103-05. In doing so, it did not meaningfully consider Sassen-Vanelsloo's ability to pay. The judgment contains the following boilerplate language:

2.5 LEGAL FINANCIAL OBLIGATIONS/ RESTITUTION. The court has considered the total amount owing, the defendant's present and future ability to pay legal financial obligations, including the defendant's financial resources and the likelihood that the defendant's status will change. (RCW 10.01.160). The court makes the following specific findings:

CP 103.

The trial court did not check the box which states, "the defendant has the present means to pay costs of incarceration, RCW 9.94A.760." CP 103. Section 4.3 of the judgment and sentence explains however, "the

defendant shall pay to the clerk of this court," before setting forth the specific LFOs to be paid by Sassen-Vanelsloo. CP 104-05.

Sassen-Vanelsloo timely appeals. CP 112-24. The trial court appointed appellate counsel and ordered that the costs associated with appellate review to be "prepared at public expense." Supp. CP \_\_\_\_ (sub no. 110, Order Authorizing Appeal in Forma Pauperis, Appointment of Counsel, and Preparation of Record, dated 10/1/14).

#### 2. Trial Testimony.

Bellingham police officer Lewis Leake, was on his motorcycle monitoring traffic on the morning of September 7, 2012. 17RP 534-35. At about 11:42 a.m., Leake noticed a black Kia Sorrento SUV at the intersection he was watching. 17RP 536-37, 584-85. The driver side window of the Kia was down, and Leake made eye contact with the driver. 17RP 537-39, 583-84. The driver had a shaved head and dark complexion. He was wearing a white t-shirt. 17RP 584.

Right turns against red lights were prohibited at the intersection. Leake saw the Kia turn right against a red light and decided to stop the Kia. 17RP 85-89, 538-40. The Kia sped up when Leake turned on his emergency lights. The Kia passed other cars as it drove 50 miles-per-hour in the posted 25 mile-per-hour speed zone. Other cars braked to avoid hitting the Kia as it entered another intersection. 17RP 541-42.

Leake continued following the Kia as it made a left turn. Leake drove 70 miles-per-hour but did not gain on the Kia. Leake saw the Kia drive through stop signs without stopping and travel over speed bumps at a speed that caused the Kia's axle to come off the ground. 17RP 542-44.

As the Kia drove through another intersection, Leake stopped to let traffic clear before continuing the chase. 17RP 546. After going through the intersection, Leake saw the Kia stopped in the middle of the road. The driver door of the Kia was open. The driver of the Kia was gone. 17RP 90, 546-48. Athena Aardema was seated in the front passenger seat. 17RP 90-91, 550-51, 684. Aardema told Leake the driver of the Kia was named "J.R.," which she believed was short for "Jesse." 17RP 91-92, 475, 490, 551-52, 626. Aardema explained that she was being given a ride home from the courthouse. 17RP 80-84, 117-19, 475, 625-28. Aardema asked the driver to stop the Kia so she could get out. 17RP 89.

Aardema's phone rang while she was being questioned by Leake. 17RP 94, 553. Leake and police officer Jeremiah Smith heard the person on the other end of the phone panting. 17RP 95, 553, 638, 687-89. Aardema told the caller that it was not a good time to talk. 17RP 638. Leake and Smith could not hear any part of the conversation between Aardema and the caller. 17RP 638, 687, 691. Leake did not record the caller's phone number or take the phone from Aardema. 17RP 639, 652.

Aardema handed the phone to Smith when he told her to. 17RP 95, 688. The caller hung up when Smith asked who they were. 17RP 688.

Leake continued questioning Aardema. He was "persistent" in his attempt to get Aardema to identify the driver of the Kia. 17RP 95-96, 134, 552-54. Eventually Aardema broke down crying and identified the driver as Sassen-Vanelsloo. 17RP 554-56. At Aardema's urging, Leake's written police reported omitted her identification of Sassen-Vanelsloo as the driver. 17RP 557-58, 629-30. Leake also did not provide a description of the Kia driver to police dispatch. 17RP 623, 633-34.

Smith obtained a photo of Sassen-Vanelsloo based on Aardema's identification of him to Leake. 17RP 689. Leake confirmed that the picture of Sassen-Vanelsloo "b[ore] similarities" to the person he saw driving the Kia, including closely cropped hair, dark complexion, and rounded face. 17RP 556-58, 646. Sassen-Vanelsloo is Caucasian. 17RP 400.

A witness told police which direction the driver of the Kia had run. 17RP 684-86. In response, police brought in a dog to track the driver. 17RP 637, 686-87. The dog track led "really close," to a house where Wade Hardenbrook lived. 17RP 733. In fact, the Kia had been rented by Hardenbrook several weeks before. 17RP 559, 711, 731. Police went to

Hardenbrook's house to speak with him. 17RP 729-30. Hardenbrook refused to give a written statement to police. 17RP 734.

Initially, Hardenbrook had difficulty identifying the driver of the Kia on the day of the incident. 17RP 712, 720, 731-33. Eventually, Hardenbrook said he let Sassen-Vanelsloo borrow the Kia in exchange for Sassen-Vanelsloo's payment of the rental bill. 17RP 711-12, 717, 722, 732-34. Hardenbrook denied he was the driver of the Kia on the day of the incident. 17RP 726. He acknowledged however, that it was in his best interest not to be associated with the Kia because he was prohibited from possessing firearms pursuant to a prior criminal conviction. 17RP 719. Leake did not believe Hardenbrook was the person he had seen driving the Kia. 17RP 889-90.

Police eventually decided to let Aardema leave the scene. 17RP 97-98, 556-57. Aardema asked to get some belongings from the cargo hold of the Kia. 17RP 96-98, 557-58. Leake saw a pistol grip handle of a shotgun when he opened the cargo hold. 17RP 97, 148, 558-59, 563, 640. Leake impounded the Kia as a result. 17RP 560.

Police searched the Kia several days later. 17RP 560-61, 641. The Kia was registered to a rental car company. 17RP 559. Police obtained no identifiable fingerprints from the Kia. 17RP 251-52. A pump action 12-gauge shotgun was found in the cargo hold. 17RP 315-16, 337, 562, 635.

The shotgun had a round in the magazine. 17RP 328, 563. Leake opined the shotgun was an authentic firearm capable of firing. 17RP 316, 568. Leake said someone in the back seat of the Kia could have accessed the shotgun. 17RP 563.

A red backpack was in the cargo hold about one foot away from the barrel of the shotgun. 17RP 316-17, 565-66. The backpack was "beyond the reach of the driver in the driver's seat." 17RP 296, 337. The main compartment of the backpack contained several items, including: a watch, personal hygiene items, a flashlight, a small black case with latch, a locked bank bag, and an energy drink container with a hallowed out false bottom. 17RP 297-98, 303, 306-07, 329, 337, 566-67. No loose items containing Sassen-Vanelsloo's name were found in the backpack. 17RP 340.

Police opened the bank bag with a key found in the center console of the Kia. 17RP 298-99, 566-67. No identifiable fingerprints were found on the bank bag. 17RP 337. Inside the bank bag were two camera bags. 17RP 337. One camera bag contained a digital scale, a crystalline substance that tested positive for methamphetamine, and five blue pills that tested positive for morphine. 17RP 300-01, 318-19, 324, 337, 567, 660-62, 667. A second camera bag contained small plastic bags and a substance that tested positive for heroin. 17RP 302, 318-19, 330, 337,

669-70. Also found inside the bank bag was a pipe, butane torch, 30 pills that tested positive for alprazolam, and 67 pills that tested positive for clonazepam. 17RP 337, 566-67, 576, 659, 662-64.

The black case contained a receipt from April 2012 and purchase and bill of sale receipts with Sassen-Vanelsloo's name on them. 17RP 304-05, 340, 348-49. Envelopes addressed to Sassen-Vanelsloo were found inside a green satchel. 17RP 577. One of the envelopes had a return mailing address for Nick Turner. 17RP 342, 634-35. The black case also contained Walgreen receipts for four prepaid cell phones purchased on August 25, 2012. 17RP 305. None of the Walgreen receipts contained Sassen-Vanelsloo's name. 17RP 340.

Behind the driver seat of the Kia was a locked safe. 17RP 308-09, 341, 569-70. The safe contained several items, including a box with gold jewelry and 20 one dollar bills inside. 17RP 310-11, 330, 341. The safe also contained an Ipad with the name Rudy Peralez inscribed on it, title for a 1990 Lincoln Town Car registered to Steve and Linda Street, a .38 revolver with four bullets in the cylinder, and a .22 pistol with a magazine containing five bullets. 17RP 310-15, 330, 341-43, 570-72, 634-35. Six .22 ammunition rounds and a sock containing eight 12-gauge shotgun shells were found in a gun case on the floor behind the driver's seat of the Kia. 17RP 303, 317, 322, 572, 575.

DNA testing was done on .38 revolver, .22 pistol, and 12-gauge shotgun. 17RP 356, 359, 362-63, 365. The revolver contained DNA from four different people, including at least one male. Sassen-Vanelsloo could neither be included nor excluded as a contributor to the DNA found on the revolver. 17RP 362-64. The pistol contained DNA from three different people, including at least one male. Sassen-Vanelsloo's DNA had a statistical match of approximately 1 in 2,100 to the male DNA found on the pistol. 17RP 365-67. The shotgun contained DNA from three different people, including at least one male. Sassen-Vanelsloo's DNA had a statistical match of approximately 1 in 170 million to the partial male DNA found on the shotgun. 17RP 359-60. No fingerprints were obtained from any of the guns. 17RP 250.

A blonde wig was found in the center of the rear passenger seat of the Kia. 17RP 295, 307-08, 567-68. No DNA testing was done on the wig. 17RP 343. Seven cell phones were found in the Kia, including four in the center console area. 17RP 331, 568-69, 646. One phone received eight incoming text messages on September 6, 2012 from a number belonging to Seth Alexander that referred to "Athena" in a disparaging manner. 17RP 406-08, 426-30. Sassen-Vanelsloo's name was not present anywhere in that phone. 17RP 432. A second phone contained an incoming text message from July 13, 2012 that said "Hey Adrian." 17RP

430-32, 436-37. A third phone referred to someone named "Preston," and mentioned buying "black." 17RP 433.

Police had no contact with Sassen-Vanelsloo on the day of the incident, or for several months afterward. 17RP 573-74. In December 2012 however, Leake stopped Sassen-Vanelsloo while he was driving a 1990 Lincoln Town Car. The VIN number of the town car matched the town car title that was found inside the Kia. 17RP 236-37, 240-43, 573-74. Police found a wig and stocking cap in the town car. 17RP 217-18, 223, 238-39. Sassen-Vanelsloo was not wearing a wig when contacted by Leake that day. 17RP 243.

During the December 2012 contact, Leake described the September incident to Sassen-Vanelsloo. 17RP 574-75. Leake told Sassen-Vanelsloo that he was the motorcycle officer who chased the Kia on September 7. Sassen-Vanelsloo responded that he had heard it was a 19-year-old man who was driving the Kia, "but you and I know who was driving." 17RP 575. Leake told Sassen-Vanelsloo that he knew he had been driving the Kia. 17RP 575.

Aardema's explanation of the incident was mostly consistent with Leake's description. 17RP 80-95, 117-20, 133-34, 137. Aardema said that Sassen-Vanelsloo was wearing a wig at the time of the incident. 17RP 86-87, 106-07, 118, 129. Aardema was addicted to

methamphetamine and heroin at the time of the incident. 17RP 101, 112. In fact, Aardema had used heroin on the day of the incident. 17RP 112. Aardema acknowledged that her drug use had caused her to have memory problems about the incident. 17RP 140-41.

Aardema testified that Sassen-Vanelsloo was the driver of the Kia during the incident. 17RP 81-84, 99, 104, 117-19, 139. In exchange for her testimony, the Whatcom Prosecutor's Office agreed to a stipulated order of continuance for several of her pending drug possession charges. 17RP 114-16, 142, 149-51.

Aardema started dating Sassen-Vanelsloo in April 2012. 17RP 77-78. Both Aardema and Sassen-Vanelsloo sold methamphetamine and heroin. 17RP 106. On prior occasions Sassen-Vanelsloo had kept the drugs in a safe in the car. 17RP 105, 440-41, 447. Aardema was uncertain whether there was a safe in the Kia that morning. 17RP 105. According to Aardema, Sassen-Vanelsloo also kept a revolver and electronic items that he received in exchange for drugs in the safe. 17RP 440, 444, 447. Aardema did not recognize the other guns found in the Kia. She had never seen Sassen-Vanelsloo bring a shotgun into any car he was driving. 17RP 441-43.

Aardema spoke with Sassen-Vanelsloo while he was in jail through letters and telephone calls. 17RP 444-46, 452, 459-61, 473.

Some of the letters asked Aardema to contact other potential witnesses. 17RP 454-56. Aardema believed some of the letters conveyed Sassen-Vanelsloo's expectation that Aardema would corroborate his account of the incident. 17RP 446, 465-66. Aardema admitted however, that Sassen-Vanelsloo never "outright ask[ed] me to lie for him[.]" 17RP 446, 465-66. Aardema disclosed the letters to the prosecutor's office. 17RP 447-48. Aardema explained that she left the State of Washington for several months because she feared Sassen-Vanelsloo. 17RP 154-56, 480-85, 492.

Several other witnesses' testimony contradicted Aardema's account of the incident. Seth Alexander testified that Sassen-Vanelsloo called him in September 2012 and asked him to pick him up at Cornwall park. 17RP 195-96, 205. Sassen-Vanelsloo explained that he and Aardema had been arguing so he got out of the car as a result. 17RP 196-98. Alexander had picked up Sassen-Vanelsoo before under similar circumstances. 17RP 204-05. Alexander denied that Sassen-Vanelsloo was out of breath on this particular day. 17RP 203-04. Sassen-Vanelsloo was not wearing a wig. 17RP 197, 201. Sassen-Vanelsloo was not in a hurry and stayed with Alexander at his house for about 20 minutes until Sassen-Vanelsloo's friend "Matt" came and picked him up. 17RP 197-200, 206. Alexander did not recall Sassen-Vanelsloo ever driving a black SUV. 17RP 200.

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