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

party, which satisfied the court that the challenged juror cannot try the 

issue impartially and without prejudice to the substantial rights of the 

party challenging said juror.  Implied bias on the other hand, exists when 

conditions or relationships from which a bias for or against a party may be 

inferred based on a relationship between the juror and the parties sufficient 

enough to create in the juror, consciously or unconsciously, a special 

interest in the success of either party. RCW § 4.44.180.  

 Implied bias may extend to circumstances not described within the 

statute, such as when a prospective juror withholds information during 

voir dire in hopes of getting seated on the jury. State v. Cho, 108 Wn. 

App. 315, 30 P.3d 496 (2001). Where implied bias of juror exists, it is 
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conclusively presumed from facts shown, but where actual bias of juror is 

claimed during voir dire, it must be established by proof. State v. Noltie, 

116 Wn.2d 831, 809 P.2d 190 (1991). 

 In this case, the trial court determined the juror at issue should be 

removed in an abundance of caution for bias but did not conclude whether 

the bias was implied based on the circumstances that presented or actual 

based on the jurors demeanor and responses to inquiries during the limited 

mid-trial examination had by the parties. This does not constitute error 

pursuant to RCW § 2.36.110. It is evident from the record this juror was 

relieved and happy with the assistance this witness provided in getting a 

family member into drug treatment, whether she was willing to 

acknowledge that or not. Additionally, the trial court was well aware, the 

defense witness this juror revealed that she knew and had previous 

interactions with, was a material alibi witness for Sassen-VanElsloo. 

Under these circumstances, the trial court reasonably determined this juror 

no longer was fit to continue to serve on the jury due to the prejudice to 

the prosecution.  As stated in Nolte: 

Considerable light will be thrown on the fairness of a juror by the 

juror’s character, mental habits, demeanor, under questioning and 

all other data which may be disclosed by the examination.  A judge 

with some experience in observing witnesses under oath becomes 

more or less experienced in character analysis, in drawing 

conclusions from the conduct of witnesses. The way they use their 

hands, their eyes, their facial expression, their frankness or 
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hesitation in answering, are all matters that do not appear in the 

transcribed record of the questions and answers. They are available 

to the trial court in forming its opinion of the impartiality and 

fitness of the person to be a juror. The supreme court, which has 

not had the benefit of this evidence recognizes the advantageous 

position of the trial court and gives it weight in considering any 

appeal from its decision.  Unless it very clearly appears to be 

erroneous, or an abuse of discretion, the trial court’s decision on 

the fitness of the juror will be sustained.  

 

Noltie, 116 Wn. 2d 831. 

While mere acquaintance with someone, standing alone, is 

generally insufficient to disqualify a juror during voir dire pursuant to 

RCW § 4.44.170, an acquaintance in addition to an interaction the 

acquaintance may have had with the juror or jurors family that 

implicates that juror’s conscious or unconscious bias, should be 

enough to disqualify a sitting juror, particularly where parties are 

unable to fully explore any potential bias during voir dire.  See, State v. 

Tingdale, 117 Wn.2d 595, 817 P.2d 850 (1991).   

A juror may not be conscious of a bias that is apparent to 

others on examination.  State v. Wilcox, 11 Wash. 215, 39 P. 368 

(1895). Thus, a juror’s declaration that he or she would hear the 

evidence and be controlled by that and the jury instructions are not 

conclusive evidence there exists no bias.  Id. The trial court is in the 

best position to determine whether a juror has the ability to be fair 
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and impartial because the trial court can observe the demeanor of the 

juror and evaluate and interpret their responses. Noltie, 116 Wn. 2d 

831.    

Similar to CrR 6.5, Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure 24(c)(1) 

allows courts to replace jurors unable to perform or who are disqualified 

from performing their duties to be replaced by alternate jurors.  Federal 

cases interpreting this rule provide guidance in the context of excusing a 

juror during trial.   In United States v. Thompson, 744 F.2d 1065, 1068 

(4th Cir. 1984) the court found a trial court abused its discretion by failing 

to dismiss a sitting juror who had become upset after seeing a photo of a 

deceased victim. When questioned about the juror’s fitness to serve 

with an open mind, the juror gave equivocal responses.  Under these 

circumstances, the reviewing court determined the right to an 

impartial jury outweighed all other considerations and the equivocal 

responses necessitated removal of this sitting juror.  Thus, when a 

sitting juror shows even the possibility of bias, trial courts are 

required to remove that juror with an unbiased alternative.  

Similarly, in United States v. Bolden, 596 F.3d 976, 981 (8th Cir. 

2010) the court held the trial court’s action dismissing a possibly 

biased juror in an effort to err on the side of caution, was appropriate. 

There, the defendant’s girlfriend had approached and spoke with two 
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jurors mid-trial outside the courtroom.  One of the jurors 

conversation with Bolden’s girlfriend was personal in nature, 

inquiring about the juror’s husband’s car accident. The government 

was concerned about the potential bias from the girlfriends contact as 

either a threat or attempt at sympathy in making the juror aware she 

was the defendant’s girlfriend.  As in this case, Bolden argued on 

appeal nothing learned from questioning after this contact was 

disclosed to the parties, revealed a legitimate basis to justify dismissal 

of this juror.  The revieiwing court disagreed, noting the trial court 

concern with the potential bias and the possibility that this interaction 

could prejudice the juror was appropriate in light of the ultimate goal 

of ensuring a fair trial by impartial jury.   

 Here, juror #12 disclosed to the court’s bailiff, following the 

testimony of a key defense alibi witness, Ms. Sharon Burton, that juror 

#12 knew the witness because Ms. Burton had worked with her family in 

getting a family member chemical dependency treatment. 5RP 853, 856. 

During this time, this juror had met Ms. Burton twice.  When asked 

directly whether juror #12’s interaction with Ms. Burton in assisting her 

family in getting treatment for her nephew was a positive experience, juror 

#12 responded equivocally: 
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I am not really sure. I can’t say because I’ve worked with, you 

know, she was only the first CARE program in Washington and I 

know the director of the CARE program.  

 

5RP 858.  The prosecutor repeatedly asked if juror #12’s experience was 

positive, trying to explore whether the juror was actually or implicitly bias 

and repeatedly, juror #12 would not answer the question directly. RP 858-

859.  Finally, after several attempts to ask this question, juror #12 

responded that she ‘guessed’ she had a pretty good feeling about Ms. 

Burton and that her feelings stemmed from her community for the help so 

that’s what your tribe is for is to try to help the funds with our community 

people that need the assistance.  

7RP 859. 

 Following this colloquy, the prosecutor explained to the trial court 

that juror #12’s interaction and relationship with a material alibi witness 

for the defense, was a concern for the State and that it did not feel fair to 

keep her on the jury. 5RP 800. The trial court, having listened and 

observed the demeanor of juror #12, agreed.  The defense witness juror 

#12 knew was a material alibi witness, someone who knew the defendant 

well through her son and also, juror #12 knew of her independent of trial, 

all of which could interfere with this juror’s ability to fairly and 

impartially weigh the credibility of this witness. RP 770.   
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 While acknowledging this was a ‘close case’ the trial court 

determined that the witness juror #12 interactions with a material alibi 

defense witness, however limited, were critical and while not a strong 

relationship, the relationship between juror #12 and Ms. Burton was strong 

enough, in light of Ms. Burton’s role as an alibi witness, that in the trial 

courts discretion, it was appropriate to dismiss her. 5 RP 861.   

 It was therefore well within the trial court’s discretion to dismiss 

juror #12 with a vetted unbiased juror.  Both the state and the defendant 

have a right to an impartial jury.  State v. Hughes, 106 Wn.2d 176, 721 

P.2d 902 (1986).  Moreover, Sassen-VanElsloo has no right to be tried 

by a jury that includes a particular juror. State v. Gentry, 125 Wn.2d 570, 

615, 888 P.2d 1105 (1991).  While juror #12 did not verbally express 

obvious bias, the trial court remained concerned about the conflict of 

interest between this juror’s ability to remain impartial in light of her 

relationship with a critical witness.  The trial court is in the best position to 

weigh not only juror #12’s verbal responses but also her demeanor, tone of 

voice and mannerisms. Both the trial court and Sassen-VanElsloo’s 

attorney understood from the tone and answers juror #12 gave, that juror 

#12 would not be pleased at being excused. 5 RP 863. This observation, of 

which Sassen-VanElsloo’s attorney affirmately acknowledged prior to her 

dismissal, reveals juror #12, while somewhat appropriately answering 



 20 

questions, may have been trying to answer questions in a manner that 

enabled her to stay on the jury. These facts further reveal what juror #12  

was unwilling to allow the parties to meaningfully explore whether her 

experiences with Sharon Burton resulted in any actual or implied bias that 

would disqualify her from serving as a juror.  The presence of a biased 

juror would not be harmless error and could have required a new trial even 

where no prejudice is demonstrated if the trial court had not appropriately 

excersized its discretion. State v. Irby, 187 Wn. App. 183, 193, 347 P.3d 

1103 (2015), review denied (Feb. 10, 2016).  Given these circumstances, 

the trial court reasonably replaced this tainted juror with an alternate juror 

pursuant to RCW § 2.36.110 and CrR 6.5.  

2. Looking at the light most favorable to the state, 

there is sufficient evidence in the record to support 

the jury’s determination that Sassen-VanElsloo was 

armed with a ‘firearm’ during the commission of the 

controlled substance violations where investigators 

testified the shotgun found near the drugs was an 

authentic, fully functional loaded firearm.  

  

 Next, Sassen-VanElsloo asserts there is insufficient evidence in the 

record to support the firearm enhancements in this case. Br. of App. at 26. 

Specifically, he contends the state failed to produce sufficient evidence 

that the Mossberg Pistol Grip Pump action 12 gauge shotgun found in the 

rear of the KIA SUV Sassen-VanElsloo was driving, was an ‘operable 
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firearm’ because there was no evidence presented that the gun had ever 

been fired. Br. of App. at 29.  

 The State bears the burden of proving every element of a 

sentencing enhancement element beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. 

Tongate, 93 Wn.2d 751, 754-55, 613 P.2d 121 (1980).  Evidence is 

sufficient to support an enhancement if, viewed in the light most favorable 

to the State, it permits any rational trier of fact to find the essential 

elements of the enhancement beyond a reasonable doubt.  State v. Tasker, 

__ Wn.App. __, __P.3d __ (2016), citing,  State v. Salinas, 119 Wn.2d 

192, 201, 829 P.2d 1068 (1992).   

 A defendant claiming insufficiency admits the truth of the State’s 

evidence and all reasonable inferences are drawn in favor of the State and 

interpreted strongly against the defendant. State v. Salinas, 119 Wn.2d at 

201.  Circumstantial evidence and direct evidence may be used to establish 

the required elements and are considered equally reliable under a 

sufficiency of the evidence analysis. State v. Fiser, 99 Wn. App. 714, 718, 

995 P.2d 107 (2000).   

 The reviewing court must defer to the trier of fact regarding 

witness credibility, conflict testimony and the persuasiveness of the 

evidence. State v. Fiser, 99 Wn. App. 714, 718, 995 P.2d 107 (2000). The 

reviewing court need not be convinced of the defendant’s guilt beyond a 
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reasonable doubt, but only that there is substantial evidence in the record 

to support the jury’s finding. Id. 

 To convict Sassen-VanElsloo of a firearm enhancement, the State 

was required to prove that he was armed during the commission of a crime 

with a ‘firearm’ defined as a ‘weapon or device from which a projectile or 

projectiles may be fired by an explosive such as gunpowder.’ RCW § 

9.41.010(9); RCW § 9.94A.533(3).  To meet this definition, the evidence 

must show the defendant possessed a ‘gun in fact’ rather than a toy.  State 

v. Tongate, 93 Wn.2d 751, 755, 613 P.2d 121 (1980),  State v. Raleigh, 

157 Wn.App. 728, 734, 238 P.3d 1211 (2010), review denied, 170 Wn.2d 

1029 (2011).   Whether a weapon or device qualifies as a firearm may be 

proved by circumstantial evidence. State v. Bowman,  36 Wn.App. 798, 

803, 678 P.2d 1273, review denied, 101 Wn.2d 1015 (1984),  State v. 

McKee, 141 Wn.App. 22, 31-32, 167 P.3d 575 (2007),  review denied, 163 

Wn.2d 1049 (2008).  Sufficient evidence in this record supports the jury’s 

determination Sassen-VanElsloo was armed with a real authentic fully 

functioning firearm, readily available to him when he got out of his 

vehicle  that was loaded and ready for use during Sassen-VanElsloo’s 

ongoing possession and sales of controlled substances from his vehicle. 

 Relying on State v. Pierce, 155 Wn. App. 701, 714, 230 P.3d 237 

(2010), Sassen-VanElsloo argues nonetheless, that the state failed to prove 
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the shotgun found in the rear of the Kia was “operable” beyond a 

reasonable doubt because the State did not provide evidence that the 

allegedly operable firearm “had ever been fired.” Br. of App. at 322. 

 Pierce relying dicta within the opinion in State v. Recuenco, 163 

Wn.2d 428, 437, 180 P.3d 1276 (2008), held the state must present 

evidence of ‘operability’ to prove to the jury that the firearm qualifies as a 

weapon or device from which a projectile may be fired by an explosive 

such as gun powder.  Pierce, 155 Wn. App. at 714.   

 In Recuenco, the court said: 

The dissent appears to argue that because the only deadly weapon 

discussed at trial was a handgun, it was appropriate to ask for a 

firearm enhancement at sentencing rather than the charged and 

convicted deadly weapon enhancement. The dissent overlooks here 

that in order to prove the firearm enhancement the State must 

introduce facts upon which the jury could find beyond a reasonable 

doubt the weapon in question falls under the definition of a 

“firearm” a weapon or device from which a projectile may be fired 

by an explosive such as gunpowder.” 11 WASHINGTON 

PRACTICE; WASHINGTON PATTERN JURY 

INSTRUCTIONS; CRIMINAL 2.10.01 (Supp. 2005) (WPIC) We 

have held that a jury must be presented with sufficient evidence to 

find a firearm operable under this definition in order to uphold the 

enhancement. 

 

Recuenco, 163 Wn. 2d at 437 (emphasis added). 

 

 Pierce is not instructive or applicable to this case. There, the court 

found the eye witness testimony that Pierce ‘appeared’ to have a handgun 

when he burglarized a home was insufficient, without more, to support a 
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firearm enhancement because the jury was given the definition of a deadly 

weapon enhancement, not a firearm enhancement. Consequently, the jury 

verdict on the firearm enhancement predicated on the wrong definition did 

not require the jury to make any finding as to the operability of the alleged 

firearm.  And while Sassen-VanElsloo cites to the language in Pierce to 

argue that where a weapon is not presented to the jury, there must be 

‘other evidence of operability, such as bullets found, gunshots heard, or 

muzzle flashes’ Pierce did not hold this list as an exclusive means required 

to support a finding of an operability. Pierce does not require reversal of 

Sassen-VanElsloo’s firearm enhancements. 

 In Raleigh, the court considered the same argument presented here 

and touched upon in Pierce, regarding whether Recuenco requires a 

firearm be ‘operable’ in order to support a conviction for a firearm 

enhancement. Raleigh, 157 Wn. App. at 735.  The Raleigh court reflected 

that the issue in Recuenco was whether a harmless error analysis applied 

when the state failed to submit a firearm enhancement to the jury. In that 

context, the language Pierce relied on from Recuenco was non-binding 

dicta because it was cited only to point out the difference between a 

deadly weapon sentencing enhancement and a firearm enhancement.

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